04,7

FILED are us

MAR 16 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE NEW YORK TIMES COMPANY d/b/a THE LEDGER, and LAKELAND LEDGER PUBLISHING CORP., a Florida corporation, d/b/a THE LEDGER

Petitioners, DIST

DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL SECOND DISTRICT NOS.:

CASE NO.: 78,559

89-02892 90-00405 90-01489

vs.

PHH MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC., a Florida nonprofit corporation, and CARL STRANG, as the Records Custodian of PHH Mental Health Services, Inc.

Respondents.

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL SECOND DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

## PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF

Kenneth A. Richieri, Esq. New York Times Company 229 West 43rd Street New York, NY 10036 (212) 556-1234

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioners, THE NEW YORK TIMES COMPANY and LAKELAND LEDGER PUBLISHING CORPORATION, will be collectively referred to herein as "The Ledger," The Respondents, PHH MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC., and CARL STRANG, as records custodian of PHH Mental Health Services, Inc., will be collectively referred to as "PHH".

The appeal below consolidated an appeal of an action on the merits of the applicability of the Public Records Act with an appeal of an action for attorney's fees and costs. References to the papers and pleadings in the original record of the case on the merits will be denoted by the letter "R" followed by the appropriate page number. References to the papers and pleadings in the original record of the case on attorney's fees and costs will be denoted by "RF" followed by the appropriate page number. References to the court exhibits which are part of the Record on Appeal will be designated by the letters "PX" for Plaintiffs' exhibits and "DX" for Defendant's exhibits, followed by exhibit number. References to the transcript of the trial proceedings in the case on the merits will be by the letter "T" followed by the

The index to the record indicates two separate listings of Appeal Volume I, Original Record (Papers and Pleadings). The Appeal Volume 1 beginning with an entry dated September 15, 1988 is the record of the case on the merits. The Appeal Volume I beginning with an entry dated January 31, 1989 is the record of the case on fees.

The parties' trial exhibits were not assigned page numbers in the record, although the index to the supplement to the original record reflects that they are contained in the record.

appropriate page number.<sup>3</sup> References to the transcript of the Attorney's Fee hearing on February 14, 1990 will be denoted by "TF" followed by the appropriate page number.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves the authority of the courts to refuse to award attorneys' fees following successful Public Records Act litigation, when they are otherwise required by 5119.12, Fla. Stat. (1987). Both the trial court and Second District determined that the Public Records Act applies to the Respondents, PHH Mental Health Services, Inc. and its records custodian Carl Strang, because they were "acting on behalf" of a government agency within the meaning of \$119.011(2) Fla. Stat. (1987). This is an appeal from the ruling of the Second District Court of Appeal absolving PHH of liability for attorney's fees under the Public Records Act on the ground that PHH's status as an entity subject to the disclosure requirements of the Public Records Act "was not so readily apparent" as to render "unlawful' PHH's refusal to permit public inspection of its records. PHH Mental Health Service v. New York Times Co., 582 So.2d 1191 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991). Upon The Ledger's petition, this court granted review of that decision on February 4, 1992.

On or about July 28, 1988, Chuck Murphy, a staff writer for

The transcripts of the trial proceedings are contained in two volumes and are not numbered as part of the record. Rather, according to the index to the record, the transcripts dated December 19, 1989, are in the record according to their own page numbers, pp.1-192 for Volume I, pp.193-326 for Volume II.

The Ledger made a demand upon PHH to inspect certain of its records. Specifically, the Ledger asked to inspect and copy:

1) PHH's tax returns for the years 1974 to 1987; 2) a list of the board of directors; 3) minutes of PHH's Board of Directors meetings; and, 4) all correspondence between PHH and state funding agencies. (R-20) PHH refused to comply with the request, sending a letter to The Ledger's publisher claiming that PHH never received funds from any state agency. (R-21,22) Despite indications from PHH that it would comply with this request, it never produced any records to The Ledger. (R-23) In a letter dated September 2, 1988, The Ledger's general counsel indicated that unless PHB complied with its request, The Ledger would have "no choice but to go to court to obtain the public documents it seeks." (R-24) September 15, 1988, PHH filed a declaratory judgment action, seeking a determination whether it was subject to the Act's disclosure requirements. On September 30, 1988, The Ledger filed a second suit seeking court-ordered compliance with Chapter 119 through a Complaint for Injunction and Writ of Mandamus, which also sought an award of attorneys' fees and costs, pursuant to \$119.12, Fla, Stat. (1987).

The trial court determined that PHH was an entity acting on behalf of Tri-County Mental Health, Inc., a public agency of the State of Florida, and accordingly ordered PHH to make its records accessible to the public in accordance with Chapter 119. (R-208) Specifically, the court found that: "The purpose and operation of PHH in the mental health field was inextricably intertwined with

the operation of Tri-County Mental Health Inc., and its successors, and therefore was its agent." (R-208) The trial court also awarded the Ledger its attorneys' fees and costs pursuant to 5119.12 Fla. Stat. (RF-76) PHH appealed both orders.

In an opinion issued May 24, 1991, the Second District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's determination that PHH was an entity subject to the Public Records Act but reversed the order requiring PHH to pay the Ledger's attorneys' fees. As the Second District noted, Chapter 119's attorneys fees section provides:

If a civil action is filed against an agency to enforce the provisions of this chapter and if the court determines that such agency unlawfully refused to permit a public record to be inspected, examined or copied, the court shall assess and award, against the agency responsible, the reasonable costs of enforcement including reasonable attorneys' fees.

PHH Mental Health Service v. New York Times Co., supra, 582 So.2d at 1192, citing § 119.12(1), Fla. Stat. (1987).

The Second District held that "[a]lthough, the trial judge correctly determined that PHH was, indeed, acting on behalf of Tri-County Mental Health, Inc.,...that conclusion was not so readily apparent that we can say with any degree of certainty that PHH's initial refusal to hand over its records was unlawful." Id. at 1193. Thus, the court created a "good faith" or "reasonable doubt" exception to an agency's liability for attorneys' fees in a Public Records Act case.

On August 6, 1991, the Second District denied The Ledger's June 10, 1991 Motion For Rehearing, Rehearing En Banc and for Certification. The Ledger petitioned this Court for review,

citing conflict among the district courts of appeal on the issue of fees in Public Records Act cases and conflict with this Court's decision in <u>Wait v. Florida Power & Light Co.</u>, 372 So.2d 420 (Fla. 1979). This Court granted review on February 4, 1992.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

PHH's roots go back more than twenty years, originating in the Tri-County Mental Health Board, Inc. (hereinafter "Tri-County"). Tri-County and its successors were created by the Florida Legislature pursuant to the Community Mental Health Act of 1971. Tri-County received its funding from allocations by federal and state government (T-30) pursuant to the Baker Act (T-222), the Myers Act (T-210) and received significant local funds from the Polk, Highlands and Hardee County commissions. (T-59) The non-local funds generally came through the Florida Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services from state and federal sources. Tri-County performed its services pursuant to a state contract. (T-30) Prior to 1977, Tri-County performed public service in the areas of mental health and drug and alcohol abuse rehabilitation. (T-57,58)

а

Subsequently, because of changes in legislation, Tri-County became an administrator and conduit of public funds channeled to subcontractors or service providers (T-30, 61) such as Tri-County Alcohol and Rehabilitative Services, Inc. ("TCARS") (T-92, 164), Peace River Center for Personal Development (T-142) and Winter Haven Hospital. (T-222) The Petitioners conceded at trial that Tri-County is a Chapter 119 public agency (T-18).

## PHH'S Creation

During its stewardship of public funds, Tri-County created an arbitrage whereby it invested these grants in interest-bearing accounts, issued funds to service providers thereafter, and utilized this interest income to create a fund balance and purchase a substantive parcel of real estate. (T-169, 170) Tri-County created PHH to avoid escheat to the state of funds accumulated from local governments and interest earned on federal, state and local government funds. (T-150, 172, 254, DX 15, 17, 19/2852(B); PX 19 at p. 3). At PHH's inception, Tri-County, a Chapter 119 "public agency," infused over \$150,000 in cash into the new PHH corporation. (T-64,65, 115; DX 15 at p. 2, DX 17 at p. 2) PHH's objective was to hold and invest this money and, ultimately, to use it to fund public mental health services. (DX 28 at p. 2)

Accompanying the cash contribution from Tri-County to PHH was an 11,000 square foot building. (T-65) The evidence showed this building was purchased with local government money. (T-168-170; DX 15 at p. 2, DX 17 at p. 2, DX 28 at p. 1) The evidence further demonstrated that the building was transferred to PHH pursuant to Tri-County's agreement with the Chairman of the Polk County Commission not to reclaim the property for Polk County. (T-260, 261; DX 15 at p. 2, DX 17 at p. 2)

This building along with furniture, fixtures and equipment purchased with local government money, flowed from Tri-County through PHH (T-69, 74) to TCARS (T-103), a provider of public mental health services. (T-92; DX 15 at p. 2, DX 17 at  $\bf p.$  2, and

DX 28 at  $\mathbf{p}$ . 1 and 2) TCARS leased the building rent-free from PHH. (T-104, 163, 305, DX 28 at  $\mathbf{p}$ . 2) Improvements on PHH's building were made with government funds. (T-40, 213, 312)

In later years, the parties assigned a substantial value to the use of PHH property, utilizing this value to constitute local "match" for state funding of mental health needs, thus obviating the need for pertinent county commissions to make cash contributions to this extent. (T-305, 306, T-37, 38)

The initial infusion of capital from Tri-County to PHH is reflected in the Tri-County Board minutes of January 25, 1977 (DX 15) and the corresponding PHH Board minutes from a meeting conducted that same day. (DX 17)<sup>4</sup> During the January 25, 1977 Tri-County Board meeting, Mr. Carl Strang, Chairman of both Tri-County and PHH (T-56, 57, 58 72), indicated that "the following disposition of assets as per the [Tri-County] board's previous instructions, were complete." (DX 15 at p. 2) The minutes reflect those dispositions as follows:

- a. Furniture and fixtures <u>procured with</u> <u>local funds</u> had been transferred to PHH Mental Health Services, Inc.
- b. The property on Highway 60, Bartow, Florida, i.e., 11,000 square feet primary care facility which was procured by Tri-County Mental Health Board, Inc. with local funds, had been deeded to PHH Mental Health Services, Inc. in accordance with asreement between the Board and the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The first page of the Tri-County minutes is exactly the same as the first page of the PHH minutes except for the name of the corporation. The board members, board staff, and visitors at the meetings are identical.

Chairman of the **Polk** County Commission.

- c. \$159,000 of <u>local funds balance</u> (source: Polk County Commission and accumulated interest) had been paid over to PHH Mental Health Services, Inc.,...
- d. \$60,800 cash advance had been given to Tri-County Alcoholism
  Rehabilitative Services, Inc. to enable the new corporation to initiate operations. This advance was made on the basis that it is subject to audit determination as to the alcoholism program operations balance of the Tri-County Mental Health Board which should be paid over to the new alcoholism program board of directors.

(DX 15 at p. 2) (emphasis added).

As the Tri-County Board was conveying funds to PHH, the PHH Board (which consisted of the same members) (T-70, 84, 167) was approving the acceptance of the funds. (DX 17 at  $\bf p$ . 2) The minutes of the  $\bf PHH$  board meeting of January 25, 1977, in pertinent part, provided as follows:

The board noted and acknowledged receipt and possession of the following assets:

- a. Furniture and fixtures as per inventory filed at the corporate offices which formerly belonged to Tri-County Mental Health Board, Inc. and were procured by that corporation with funds from sources other than the State of Florida.
- **b.** 11,000 sq. ft. air-conditioned concrete block structure located on Highway 60 with accompanying acreage which was procured by Tri-County Mental Health Board, Inc. with funds, the source of which was either accumulated interest or local monies provided

through an arrangement with the Polk County Commission. Property has been deeded to PHH Mental Health services, Inc. by Tri-County Mental Health Board, Inc. as part of the dissolution of its assets and in accordance with the agreement between that board and the chairman of the Polk County Commission.

c. \$159,330.43 in cash accumulated by Tri-County Mental Health Board, Inc. either local funds provided through an arransement with the Polk County Commission or accumulated interest monies. The funds have been provided as a result of the dissolution of the Tri-County Mental Health Board, Inc. and the disposition of the assets in accordance with the agreement between the board and the chairman of the Polk County Commission.

(DX 17 at p. 2) (emphasis added).

Further, the minutes show that:

The board considered the requirement to establish a policy concerning the future of Tri-County equipment the Alcoholism Services, Rehabilitative Inc. During discussion, it was noted that most of the current equipment in the possession of Tri-County Alcoholism Rehabilitative Services, is property of PHH Mental Health Inc. <u>Services</u>, <u>Inc.</u> After discussion, it was decided that future equipment requirements by the new alcoholism corporation should be acquired by that corporation from their own resources.

(DX 17 at **p.** 2) (emphasis added).

Thus, the Tri-County minutes show that PHH was established to perform essentially governmental functions in holding <u>public</u> assets and financially supporting local public mental health services. Assets, furniture and fixtures transferred to PHH were procured with "local funds." Additionally, the minutes demonstrate that the 11,000 square foot building was procured with "local funds" and deeded to PHH in accordance with an agreement with the chairman of

the Polk County Commission, and that cash of more than \$159,000 together with the accumulated interest -- the source of which was the Polk County Commission, and arbitrage interest on other public monies -- was paid directly to PHH. (T-117, 118) The minutes' reference to "local funds" was in connection with Tri-County/PHH's effort to avoid characterizing the assets of PHH as property which the state "had a claim to." (T-161) However, all of these assets coming into the possession of PHH during this time period can be traced back to a governmental, as opposed to a private, source. (T-175, 176)

Also pertinent to the instant appeal was a presentation made during the PHH board meeting by Mr. John Simmonds, Executive Director of both PHH and Tri-County, concerning the disposition of monies to TCARS. The relevant portion of Mr. Simmonds' presentation showed that PHH anticipated the eventual recovery of its cash advanced to TCARS from the latter's receipt of government grant-in-aid funds. (DX 17 at pp. 2 and 3) Government funds flowed from Tri-County to PHH, (T-64, 278) and from PHH to TCARS. (T-93, 102) PHH also anticipated the flow of government funds back to it from TCARS. (DX 17 at pp. 2 and 3)

After the January 25, 1977 meetings, Tri-County Mental Health Board, Inc. filed a Petition for Dissolution in the Circuit Court of the Tenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Polk County, Florida. (DX 19) The petition represents that the dissolution of Tri-County and the transfer of its assets was necessary because of a change in Florida law necessitating a "complete dismantling and

reconstruction" of mental health programs in Polk, Hardee and Highlands Counties. (See DX 19 at paragraph 5) In paragraph 6 of the Petition, Tri-County stated the assets to be distributed were assets "accumulated by Tri-County Mental Health Board, Inc. since its inception under the Community Mental Health Act of 1970." (DX 19 at p. 3) The Petition requested the Court to order and adjudge "all matters concerning winding up the affairs of Tri-County Mental Health Board, Inc. including the distribution and allocation of its general assets among its creditors and successors in interest." (See DX 19 at p. 3)

In its Order entered May 2, 1977, the trial court, Judge Dewell presiding, acknowledged the restructuring of the mental health delivery systems in the Tri-County area. (DX 20) The court granted the petition for dissolution and ordered as follows:

The transfer of assets, including cash accounts, real, and personal property, from Tri-County Mental Health Board, Inc. to its successors in interest, Tri-County Mental Health Services, Inc. and Tri-County Alcoholism Rehabilitative Services, Inc. is approved.

## (See DX 20 at pp. 2 and 3)

а

PHH Mental Health Services, Inc. was then formed **as** a tax exempt corporation pursuant to the requirements of section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. (T-273, 279) Part 2, line 1 of PHH's IRS Form 1023, Application for Recognition of Exemption Under 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, asks the applicant to identify its sources of financial support. (DX 28) PHH stated on this application that local government, below the state level,

would provide ninety percent or more of its finances. (T-279; DX 28 at p. 1) According to the form, private, corporate and personal contributions would constitute only ten percent, or less, of PHH's incoming assets. (Ibid.) Line 2 of part 3 of the IRS form 1023 asks the applicant to describe the organization's fund-raising activities. PHH's responded as follows:

This organization will receive ninety percent (90%) or more of its funding from various government sources. This organization has been established to handle contributions from local sources in excess of the state's requirement for local funding of mental health services. This corporation also holds title to fixed assets purchased with local mental health funds in excess of state funding requirements. Any contributions from the general public will be accepted but will not be generated by any active fund raising.

(<u>Ibid</u>.) In paragraph 3, line 3 of the IRS form 1023, PHH acknowledged that it "purchases and holds title to all facilities, furniture, fixtures and equipment purchased with local funds for use in mental health programs." (DX 28 at p. 2)

In part 3, line 5 of the IRS form 1023, PHH represented that it is "an outgrowth of Tri-County Mental Health Board, Inc. proceedings for dissolution of this organization and a transfer of a portion of its assets to PBH Mental Health Services, Inc. have taken place. The present board interlocks with Tri-County Mental Health Board District VIII-A, Inc." (DX 28 at p. 3; see also T-70, 84, 277, 278)<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> A second IRS Form 1023 filed by PHH is also contained in DX 28, and it is identical to the first Form 1023 with respect to the specific portions extracted above. PHH never amended its Form 1023 to represent to the IRS a different source of funding. (T-68, 69)

## The Purpose of PHH.

The fundamental purpose of Tri-County, as stated in its corporate articles, was in pertinent part, as follows:

To establish, obtain financial aid for and carry on in Board District 13 (Polk, Highlands and Hardee Counties) ... Community Mental Health Programs to service diagnosis [sic] and treat emotional disorders of any citizen of Polk, Highlands and Hardee Counties and to do such other things as said corporation deems necessary in connection therewith of promotion to health and well-being of the citizens of these counties.

\* \* \*

To contract with any established local mental health agencies for services **and** to assist in establishing any new agencies to provide services deemed necessary or advisable by the corporation and to contract therewith for services.

(DX 12(A) at  $\mathbf{p}$ . 2)

In comparison, the PHH Articles of Incorporation state PHH's purpose, in pertinent part, as follows:

To promote the delivery of health care services, particularly in the field of mental health and alcohol rehabilitation; to provide funds, services, equipment and property of every kind and nature located within the area to be services as herein defined, and to apply for and receive public funding and financial assistance as well as private contributions and donations in furtherance of mental health care in the Counties of Polk, Hardee and Highlands in the State of Florida.

\* \* \*

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