DA 6-1-92

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

APR 22 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Beputy Clerk

THE NEW YORK TIMES COMPANY d/b/a THE LEDGER, and LAKELAND LEDGER PUBLISHING CORP., a Florida corporation, d/b/a THE LEDGER,

Appellants,

VS.

PHH MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC., a Florida nonprofit corporation, and CARL STRANG, as the Records Custodian of PHH Mental Health Services, Inc.,

Appellees.

Case No. 78,559

District Court of Appeal Second District Nos:

89-02892 90-00405 90-01489

ON REVIEW FROM THE DIBTRICT COURT OF APPEAL SECOND DISTRICT OF APPEAL

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Chapter 119 (Fla. Stat. 1989) provides three prerequisites to an award of attorney's fees. Each of these elements require separate and distinct factual determinations by the ultimate finder of fact, the trial court.

The first of such requirements is a determination that the records recipient is "an agency" as defined by Chapter 119. Second, the trial court must determine that it was necessary to file a civil action to enforce the provisions of Chapter 119. Third, a trial court must determine whether the underlying facts support a conclusion that a recipient's initial response was an "unlawful refusal" of the public records request.

The Second District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's conclusion that PHH fell within the definition of "an agency." However, the Second District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's award of attorney's fees to The Ledger, finding that the trial judge's conclusion that PHH was acting on behalf of Tri-County Mental Health, Inc."...was not so readily apparent that we can say with any degree of certainty that PHH's <u>initial</u> refusal to hand over records was unlawful."

The Second District Court of Appeal has not created an exemption from Chapter 119, but has instead applied the factual determination required by Chapter 119.

Allowing a factual determination of "unlawful refusal" does not take away from the force of the Public Records Act, since records recipients who question their obligation under Chapter 119

must incur the costs associated with that inquiry. The decision of the Second District Court of Appeal is consistent with other factual determinations of "unlawful refusal" and supports the policy of open government, while protecting from punishment those individuals and entities whase initial questioning of their obligations under Chapter 119 is reasonable and understandable.

To award attorney's fees in every case where the records recipient is found to be "an agency" as defined by Chapter 119 would create an indiscriminate punitive measure not intended by this Legislature. The Public Records Act of Chapter 119 is intended to be an enforcement mechanism, not a cost-shifting weapon of the newspaper industry.

ARGUMENT I

THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL WAS CORRECT IN REVERSING THE TRIAL COURT'S AWARD OF ATTORNEY'S FEES TO THE LEDGER SINCE PHH DID NOT "UNLAWFULLY REFUSE" DISCLOSURE.

A. PHH DID NOT "UNLAWFULLY REFUSE" THE PUBLIC RECORDS REQUEST SINCE ITS UNCERTAINTY OVER ITS OBLIGATION TO RESPOND TO THE PUBLIC RECORDS REQUEST WAS UNDERSTANDABLE AND REASONABLE, AND THERE WAS NO UNDUE DELAY OR ATTEMPT TO EVADE RESPONSIBILITY UNDER CHAPTER 119.

The Legislature provided a second test before a court could invoke its discretion to award attorney's fees in a public records action:

and if the court determines that such agency unlawfully refused to permit a public record to be inspected, examined or copied,...

Section 119.12(1), Florida Statutes (1987).

So, in addition to determining (1) whether the recipient is "an agency" and (2) whether civil action was filed to enforce Chapter 119, the court must determine that an agency <u>unlawfully refused</u> a public records request before it can assess an award of attorney's fees and costs under the Public Records Act.

The Second District Court of Appeal recognized these three prerequisites to an award of attorney's fees and costs and determined that only one of the three tests had been satisfied by the facts surrounding this Public Records Act litigation. The Second District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's finding that PHH was "an agency" subject to the requirements of Chapter 119. However, it reversed the trial court's award of

attorney's fees based on PHH's "unclear status and..." its "swift action seeking judicial resolution of whether it acted on behalf of a public agency," and, thus, the other test of Chapter 119.12(1) were not satisfied. The interpretation and construction upon which the Second District Court of Appeal based its reversal is consistent with the legislative intent and language, and is consistent with the policy supporting the enactment of Chapter 119. The language of the statute mandates this factual analysis, and a decision consistent with this analysis is correct.

PHH never refused the public records request.

PHH responded rapidly to each letter from The Ledger, setting forth its uncertainty over its obligation, welcoming further inquiry and, ultimately, requesting the court's assistance in determining its correct response. (A-2,4) (R-3-9) This conduct of PHH cannot be considered a refusal.

If one accepts The Ledger's interpretation that any action other than immediate inspection and delivery is a refusal, then the Court must make the next factual determination; that is, whether PHH "unlawfully" refused the record request.

There is no question that the Board of Directors of PHH did not consider itself a "public agency," as defined by Chapter 119. The District Court of Appeal emphasized the reasonableness of uncertainty, stating:

...PHH was confronted with the problem of simply not knowing whether the law was applicable to it because PHH was not denominated a public agency by law and its status i.e., whether it was acting on behalf of a public agency was in doubt requiring judicial clarification. Although the trial judge correctly determined that PHH was, indeed, acting on behalf of Tri-County Mental Health, Inc., as is noted above, that conclusion was not so readily apparent that we can say with any degree of certainty that PHH's initial refusal to hand over its records was unlawful.

(Appendix - order of Second District of Appeal)

When Carl Strang received the public records request, he and the other members of the Board of Directors were charged with making an immediate determination of whether PHH was an "agency" as defined by §119.011 Fla. Stat. (1989).

Carl Strang and the other members of the Board of Directors asked its counsel:

- (A) Is **PHH** a separate unit of government created or established by law?
- (B) Is PHH a private corporation "acting on behalf of any public agency"?

PHH was certainly not an agency which was a unit of government.

PHH was acting on behalf of a public agency, was not so clear and clarification of that answer became the reason for the declaratory action filed by PHH. The Board of Directors of PHH did not

consider itself as acting on behalf of a public agency. (T-165)

Although the Second District eventually agreed with the decision of the trial judge's conclusion that there was sufficient evidence to support a finding that PHH was "acting on behalf of Tri-County Mental Health, Inc. and its successors,..." it disagreed that the evidence established that the Board of PHH had or should have had this "public agency" self concept based upon 13-year-old statements of initial intent and excerpts from two sets of monthly minutes generated during the 13 year history of PHH. historical statements may have provided enough evidence for the trial court to make its "agency" determination, but they certainly did impute to the Board of Directors of PHH an awareness of its status as a private corporation acting on behalf of a public agency at the time it received its public records request. Instead, the evidence and testimony establishes that PHH was not a "true" or "pure" agency such that would warrant a present sense of its public nature to render its action in seeking declaratory relief, evasive or a frivolous attempt to delay.

Consistent with this Court's framework and points of emphasis in News & Sun-Sentinel Co. v. Schwab, Twitty & Hanser Architectural Group, Inc., 17 HW S156 (Case 77,131 March 5,1992), the following relevant factors support the determination that PHH did not "unlawfully refuse" The Ledger's public record request:

Creation:

There was no evidence presented to the trial court that PHH was a "...state, county, district, authority, or municipal officer,

department, division, board, bureau, commission or other **separate** unit of government created or established by law. Indeed, the testimony before the trial court was that PHH was created by citizens who realized that a private, nonprofit, independent entity was necessary to mental health services in Polk, Highlands and Hardee counties in light of the enactment of Chapter 76-394, <u>Laws of Florida</u>. (T-58, 160)

Funding:

The trial judge determined that the source of the money for the purchase and improvement of PHH's building and the cash transferred to PHH initially, were public monies collected directly or indirectly by Tri-County Mental Health Board pursuant to local government authority. (R-206) These transfers occurred in 1977, and were transferred pursuant to an Order of the Tenth Judicial Circuit of the State of Florida, dated May 2, 1977, which provided as follows:

B. All non-governmental assets of Tri-County Mental Health Board, Inc. were transferred to PHH Mental Health Services, Inc.

(DX-20)

The Board of PHH considered at all times that its initial funding as well as its building were non-governmental. The Ledger's own witness, Orville Roark, Operations Manager of the H.R.S. Audit Agency of the State of Florida, testified that his agency had never performed an audit of PHH, that he knew of no public funds being contributed to PHH, and that had PHH received government funding, an audit would have been performed. (T-35, 37)

Don Harrison, the C.P.A. for PHH, along with several Board members of PHH, testified that the funding was from private funds, and not government funds. (T-257, 279, 284-285)

The Ledger argued that the 1988 PHH Board of Directors should have known of its "public status" since its 1976 I.R.S. Form 1023 for tax exemption provided that 90% of the financial support for PHH would be from local government. (PX-5, DX-28 (Comp)) Both Don Harrison and Orville Roark testified that the originally contemplated governmental funding did not occur. (T-35, 37, 257, 279, 284-285) And, even if the initial source of funds from PHH was perceived as governmental in nature, the important inquiry is whether or not the agency acted on behalf of any public agency. Atty. Gen. Opinion 080-45, May 14, 1980 and Atty. Gen. Opinion 076-194, September 22, 1976; Shands Teaching Hosp. and Clinics v. Lee, 478 \$0.24 77 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985).

Regulation:

PHH is not controlled by any public agency, does not control any public agency, and does not report to any public agency. (T-181-183) PHH did not (knowingly) act on behalf of any public agency. (T-1265, 192-183, 256-257) All members of PHH recognized and acted upon the distinction between itself and any of the Tri-County Boards or successors. (T165, 181-183, 308) In fact, the Board members took specific actions through the development, and continuation of PHH to separate itself, its funding and its reporting from Tri-County or any other public or quasi-public agency. John "Bubba" Smith, Chairman of the Board, County

Commissioner and PHH Board member, testified that PHH acted at all times independently of the County Commissioners, and at no time served in an advisory capacity to the County Commissions or any other public entity. (T-165) Likewise, the County Commissions of the three counties never appointed members of the Board of PHH, but, instead, PHH had complete control over the appointment of its own members. (T-81, 165, 181)

Pat Turnival, Executive Director of TCARS, testified that while she always went to the Tri-County Mental Health Board, Inc. meetings, as part of its staff, she never went to the Board meetings of PHH. (T-308) Furthermore, she testified that she did not know from one year to the next whether PHH would decide to provide its building to TCARS. (T-305)

PHH sent no program or financial reports to the H.R.S., and Orville Roark, of H.R.S. Audit Agency, never requested such reports or audits, although it always performed audits of Tri-County Mental Health Board, Inc., but never of PHH. (T-35, 37) Lisa Stone, a Human Services Program Director for H.R.S. Alcohol, Drug Abuse and Mental Health programs in the Polk, Hardee, Highlands, Hillsborough and Manatee counties, testified that PHH received no government funding and was not subject to any direction by her H.R.S. office. (T-188) Roark and Stone emphasized that had a corporation been receiving state funds for public health purposes in those counties, it would have been subject to an audit by H.R.S. and to his and her control. (T-188) PHH was not. (T-188)

In light of these factors, PHH's belief in its private, not public, nature is not only comprehensible, but, absent the decision of the trial judge, is reasonable.

Decision-Making Process:

PHH delegated to no one, other than to its own Board of Directors, the decision-making authority for PHH. All members of PHH recognized and acted upon the distinction between itself and any of the Tri-County Boards or successors. (T-165, 181-183, 308) PHH took no part in Tri-County's decision-making, or any decision-making of the three-county County Commissions, or any other public entity. (T-165, 181-183, 308) The Board meetings of Tri-County Mental Health Board and of PHH, while held at the same location, were held at different times, with the exception of the one joint meeting over its 13-year history, highlighted by The Ledger. (T-167, 182, 259, 308)

Governmental Function:

PHH did not act as the sole steward of mental health services in the three-county area. (T-165, 181-183, 308) PHH did not act for the benefit of Tri-County or any of **its** successors, but instead provided assistance of any type it chose, to individuals requiring mental health assistance. (T-58, 160) The Ledger exalts form over substance in pointing to 1977 Articles of Incorporation, statements of in future intent, that PHH's purpose was to "promote health care through public funding." (DX-13(A))

PHH never promoted health care through public funding. Hal Connor, attorney for PHH, testified that he prepared PHH's Articles

of Incorporation by using the same form he had used for Tri-County Mental Health Board, Inc., since he wanted to provide authorization for any activity that the corporation might later decide to provide. (T-136) There was <u>no</u> testimony or evidence before the trial court that the assistance provided to mental health services by PHH was that which Tri-County would otherwise have assumed or which had been delegated to PHH by Tri-County: that was not the case.

Goals:

Judge Beach was correct in finding that the purpose of PHH was to be a "repository" of the non-government assets "to avoid the estreature of this property to the State of Florida as a result of legislative changes in the mental health care law." (T-161) (R-207) Certainly this is not a goal consistent with that of a "public agency"!

The Ledger presented no testimony that PHH was controlled by, or acted at the direction of, Tri-County Mental Health Board, Inc. or any of its successors. The Ledger's argument that PHH "unreasonably refused" the public records request is based upon old statements and old documents: not upon the testimony of any individual who had a present connection with PHH or Tri-County Mental Health Board, Inc. In fact, The Ledger's own witness, Orville Roark, of H.R.S., gave testimony in support of the private nonprofit nature of PHH as distinguished from the public agencies subject to his review. (T-35, 37)

This Court has recognized previously in <u>Shevin v. Byron</u>, <u>Harliss, Schaffer, Reid and Assoc., Inc.</u>, **379** So.2d 633 (**Fla. 1980**) that the application of the Public Records Act, including **\$119.12**(1), to a particular organization must be made on a <u>case-by-case basis</u>.

Based upon the totality of factors relevant in this case, PHH did not "unlawfully **refuse!!** the public records request since its response was prompt and its doubt **as** to its "agency status!! truly understandable. (See <u>Schwartzman v. Merritt Island Vol. Fire Dept.</u>, 352 So.2d **1230** (Fla. 4th DCA **1977.**)

Schwartzmann was an appeal from a declaratory judgment holding that the nonprofit volunteer fire department was not "an agency!! and its records not "public records." There was no issue of attorney's fees since there was no civil action to "enforce" the provisions of Chapter 119. Schwartzmann, ibid.

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